UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ORLANDO DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V. Case No: 6:12-cv-932-Orl-28GJK
GURUDEO PERSAUD,

Defendant.

ORDER

Defendant, Gurudeo “Buddy” Persaud, started an investment company in 2007
and solicited family members, friends, and acquaintances for investments with the
company. By guaranteeing rates of return, Mr. Persaud was able to acquire more than
a million dollars in investments but did not disclose important details about his trading
strategies or use of the funds. As a result of his investing decisions and
misappropriation of funds, nearly all of the money was lost.

In 2012, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filed this action against
Mr. Persaud for violations of several securities statutes. The case is before the Court
on the SEC’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 40), to which Mr. Persaud has not
responded. As to Counts I-IV of the Complaint, there are no genuine issues of material
fact, and the SEC’s motion for summary judgment must be granted. There are,
however, issues of fact with regard to Counts V and VI, and the motion for summary

judgment must be denied as to these counts.



I Background

Mr. Persaud was formerly employed as an independent registered representative
at an investment firm called Money Concepts. (See Persaud Dep., Doc. 40-3, at 29, 35;
see also Answer, Doc. 13, { 15; Compl., Doc. 1, § 15). While employed in that role, he
started a side investment project called White Elephant, LLC. (Persaud Dep. at 35). To
avoid the appearance of a conflict of interest, Mr. Persaud listed family members
instead of himself as the managing members and registered agent of White Elephant on
all documents filed with the state of Florida. (Id. at 27). He fdrged their names when he
needed to make most transactions on behalf of White Elephant. (See, e.g., id. at 37-
41). In doing so, he concealed his involvement with White Elephant from his employer.
(See id. at 28-29).

Mr. Persaud solicited friends and family members to invest with White Elephant.
(Id. at 42). In soliciting investors, Mr. Persaud guaranteed specific rates of return
varying from six to eighteen percent annually. (Id. at 47-48). He told potential investors
that he would only be paid from anything earned in excess of the specific rates of return
he promised. (ld. at 52). Mr. Persaud admits that he knew particular rates of return
should not be guaranteed for certain investments. (See id. at 50-51). He thought,
however, that he could guarantee the investors' principal because he “always had [his]
real estate to fall back on” and he “was pretty sure [he] could make [investors] money.”
(Id. at 45; accord id. at 50).

Through these actions, Mr. Persaud was able to procure more than a million
dollars in investments. (Id. at 71). This money was pooled in a single White Elephant
account. (Id. at 77). Mr. Persaud admits that he used up to $250,000 of investors’

funds to pay his personal expenses; this use was not part of the original agreement he



had with investors." (Id. at 146-47). Of the funds he did invest, he followed a system
that gave him directional picks in the marketplace “based upon the gravitational pull of
the [E]arth and the moon.” (ld. at 56). He based between ninety and ninety-five percent
of White Elephant’s investments on this strategy.? (Id. at 65). He made no profits but
instead lost money. (ld. at 69-71). This investment strategy, combined with Mr.
Persaud’s use of funds for personal expenses, yielded losses of around $950,000.
(See id. at 103).

Throughout this time, Mr. Persaud kept few written records of the money he
received from investors. (ld. at 89). He continued to solicit investments from people
knowing that White Elephant was losing money.> When some clients asked him for
their money back, he sometimes paid them from the pooled funds in the White Elepha.nt
account. (Id. at 77). He lied to some investors, explaining that the money he returned

in excess of the initial investment was profit earned by White Elephant. (Id. at 78). In

' The amount Mr. Persaud misappropriated is disputed. Karaz S. Zaki, an accountant
with the SEC, states that based on review of the bank and brokerage account records,
Mr. Persaud actually “transferred approximately $415,000 of investors’ contributions
from White Elephant’s bank accounts to himself and his family members from July 2007
until January 2011.” (Zaki Decl., Doc. 40-5, ] 5(d)).

2 Mr. Persaud used a website called xyber9.com to make investment picks based on the
gravitational pull of the Earth and the moon. (Persaud Dep. at 56). He also used Best
Choice Software, which made investing picks based on seasonal patterns in stocks.
(Id. at 66). For the remainder of his trading decisions, Mr. Persaud used an online
futures trading class and another service that made “live calls” to tell participants what
to buy and sell based on “technical indicators.” (Id. at 67-68). He stated, “I didn’t believe
[these services were] a hundred percent [guaranteed]. But | believed that they were
nearly seventy to eighty percent [guaranteed].” (Id. at 68).

® Mr. Persaud was already reimbursing investors with the money invested by others by
2009, (see Persaud Dep. at 87), but he continued soliciting potential investors through
at least January 2010, (see Compl. ] 38; Answer ] 38; Abreu Decl., Doc. 40-4).



fact, White Elephant earned no profit.* (See id. at 79-80). On some occasions, Mr.
Persaud paid investors back with his own personal funds. (ld. at 85).

As a result of White Elephant’s losses of nearly one million dollars, individual
investors suffered losses. For example, Ms. Doreen Abreu declares that she invested
$175,000 she received under the terms of the policy insuring her late husband’s life and
was promised a return of six percent. (Abreu Decl., Doc. 40-4, || 5-6; see also Answer
9 38; Compl. § 38). She has repeatedly asked Mr. Persaud for her money back and
was told that he lost her money; she is still owed $166,000 in principal alone. (Abreu
Decl. §] 10). Ms. Abreu states that she was not informed about Mr. Persaud’s system of
investment or his method for repayment and that she would not have invested with him
had she known these facts. (Id. §] 12).

Il Discussion
A. Summary Judgment Standards

Summary judgment shall be granted “if the movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The moving party bears the burden of

demonstrating that no genuine issues of material fact remain. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett,

477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). That burden “may be discharged by ‘showing'—that is,
pointing out to the district court—that there is an absence of evidence to support the

nonmoving party's case.” Id. at 325.

* A review of White Elephant's accounts showed that Mr. Persaud used “investors’
contributions to pay approximately $225,000 to investors from November 2007 until
January 2011.” (Zaki Decl. {] 5(d)).



In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the Court construes the facts and all
reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and

it may not weigh evidence or determine credibility. Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing

Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 150 (2000). However, summary judgment should be granted
“against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an
element essential to that party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of

proof at trial.” Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322.

When faced with a “properly supported motion for summary judgment, [the
nonmoving party] must come forward with specific factual evidence, presenting more

than mere allegations.” Gargiulo v. G.M. Sales, Inc., 131 F.3d 995, 999 (11th Cir.

1997). A “district court cannot base the entry of summary judgment on the mere fact
that the motion was unopposed but, rather, must consider the merits of the motion.”

United States v. 5800 S.W. 74th Ave., 363 F.3d 1099, 1101 (11th Cir. 2004).

B. Registration Violation Claims

In Count |, the SEC claims that Mr. Persaud violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of
the Securities Act of 1933° by selling unregistered securities. (Compl. 69-71).
Section 5(a) provides that it is unlawful for any person “to make use of any means or
instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to
sell [a] security” or “to carry or cause to be carried through the mails or in interstate
commerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, [a] security for the purpose
of sale or for delivery after sale” if the security does not have an effective registration

statement. 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a). Section 5(c) makes it unlawful “to make use of any

® Registration requirements in Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933 can be found at 15
U.S.C. § 77e.
















































